
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 8 November 2016 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C J Lawton, 
S-A Slade and G J Taylor.    

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   31 October 2016



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 12 July 2016 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
1 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

a)   Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract 
Task Group - To report on the recommendations of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on work undertaken by the 
Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group 
(report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task 
Group enclosed).

(Pages 
11 - 20)

7. Review of the existing Designated Public Place Order in Spalding Town 
Centre - To review the existing Designated Public Place Order in light of 
new tools and powers following the introduction of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Police and Crime Act 2014 (joint report of the Portfolio 
Holder Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Executive 
Manager People and Public Protection to follow)

8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 - To review specific 
discounts within the local Council Tax support scheme (joint report of 
the Portfolio Holder Finance and the Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer 
enclosed)

(Pages 
21 - 28)

9. UK Municipal Bond Agency - Approval of UK Municipal Bond Agency; 
Framework Agreement and Joint and Several Guarantee (joint report of 
the Portfolio Holder Finance and the Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer 
enclosed)

(Please note that the appendix associated with this report is not for 
publication by virtue of Paragraph 5 (Information in respect of 
which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as 

(Pages 
29 - 42)



Item 12)

10. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

11. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 5 and 3 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

12. UK Municipal Bond Agency appendix (Pages 
43 - 
228)

13. ICT Service and Infrastructure - To agree the future approach regarding 
the ICT service and the development of the associated technical 
infrastructure in order to support Council services (relevant to all 
corporate priorities) (joint report of the Portfolio Holder Governance and 
Customer and the Executive Director Strategy and Governance 
enclosed)

(Pages 
229 - 
286)

14. Transformation – Digital Payment Phase 2 (District Provision) - To 
expand the ability to make payments for Council services across the 
district, by use of Pay Zones, Post Offices and digital solutions.  This will 
align with the Corporate Priorities ‘to provide the right services, at the 
right time and in the right way’.  It will enable residents and businesses 
greater flexibility in the way they pay (joint report of the Portfolio Holder, 
Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Shared Executive 
Manager for People and Public Protection to follow).



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 12 July 2016 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)

M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

A Casson
P E Coupland

R Gambba-Jones
C J Lawton

S-A Slade
G J Taylor

Cabinet Support Member: C N Johnson

Chief Executive, Executive Director - Strategy and Governance, Executive Manager - 
Governance, Interim Executive Manager Growth and Prosperity, Programme Delivery 
Manager, Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer) and Democratic Services 
Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors E J Sneath 
(Cabinet Support Member), B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader) and A R Woolf (Chairman, Policy 
Development Panel), together with the Citizens Advice Bureau, Parish Councils and 
the Welland Seniors Forum.  

In Attendance:  Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee).

Community Representatives:  Business Organisations.

In the Public Gallery: Councillor F Biggadike, Project Delivery Officer, South Holland 
Centre Manager, Communications Officer, and the Press.  

Action 
By

1. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 May 2016 were signed by 
the Leader as a correct record. 

AT

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No interests were declared. 

3. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS) 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

4. MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in. 

5. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels. 

6. SUPERFAST BROADBAND CONTRIBUTION BY SOUTH 
HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Deputy Leader 
of the Council and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151) which sought a decision in respect of South Holland 
District Council’s contribution to the roll out of Superfast 
Broadband across South Holland with between 95% and 97% 
coverage.

Members were reminded that the council had signed up in 
principle to a county wide programme with BDUK which provided 
match funding.  A memorandum of agreement had been signed 
which set out the principles of the agreement and £606,910 had 
been included within the budget, though it had been hoped that a 
lower contribution would be sufficient.

The first phase had been successful and had seen an 
underspend against the anticipated budget.  It was, however, 
proposed that the Council still contribute the full budget allocated 
in order to extend the coverage to an anticipated 95%.  

Councillor R Gambba-Jones stated the importance of a clear 
message in that the council was working to provide the 
infrastructure to enable members of the public to potentially 
connect to superfast broadband and not actually be provided with 
direct access as it was down to members of the public to find their 
own provider in order to connect to the system.  

Councillor M G Chandler advised that it was vitally important for 
the business community and for the rural areas within South 
Holland to have access to the service.  He requested assurance 
that the authority would be receiving value for money.

Councillor C N Worth pointed out that there had been a 
phenomenal improvement since the work had started in 2011 and 
that there would be a further improvement by the end of the 
programme. 

Page 2



- 3 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

Councillor R Gambba-Jones requested that the Leader and 
Deputy Leaders use their influence at Government level to 
encourage developers to provide fibre in new properties.  The 
Lord Porter of Spalding stated that it was not compulsory to install 
gas and electric into properties and therefore fibre would be 
similarly treated unless it had a unique selling point.  

The Lord Porter of Spalding questioned the fact that the Council 
was being asked to contribute the full amount despite there being 
a saving against the budget.  As the basis for the decision had 
shifted he questioned whether Council approval was required.  
The Executive Manager Governance explained that it was an 
executive decision as the full amount requested was within the 
policy framework and budget.  The Interim Executive Manager 
Growth and Prosperity advised that there would be an implication 
to reducing the Councils contribution in respect of having to pay 
BDUK back any match funding, pound for pound.

The Chief Executive stated that the contract was not controlled or 
owned by the Council.  It would be for the Council to seek to 
obtain the best terms it could.  She advised that it was necessary 
to consider the remote areas that were disadvantaged and that 
the Council’s contribution should be made with assurance from 
Lincolnshire County Council that the service would be extended to 
the remote areas of the district in addition to supporting the 
business needs of the local economy.  

DECISION:

a) That a contribution of £606,910 be made to Lincolnshire 
County Council in respect of the roll out of Superfast 
Broadband in the District; 

b) That as a result of the contribution assurance be sought 
from Lincolnshire County Council and BDUK that the 
Council’s funding would ensure that the service be extended 
to the remote areas of the district in addition to supporting 
the business needs of the local economy; and

c) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Commercialisation, 
to negotiate contractual terms with Lincolnshire County 
council and other authorities in Greater Lincolnshire and to 
release the payment when negotiations had been 
satisfactorily concluded.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation; or
 To approve the recommendation without amendments.

JK, TM 

JK, TM 

JK, TM, 
AG, MC

Page 3



- 4 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

Reasons for decision:
 The programme had substantially completed with 90.03% of 

the total premises completed by the end of 2015 compared to 
a target of 90%.

 Delivery in South Holland had, as far as could be ascertained, 
equalled or exceeded that in other Districts with the exception 
of East Lindsey.

 There was a significant underspend on the current programme 
which would allow additional investment in Phase 2.

 The programme had delivered its primary target and there was 
potentially substantial further investment into the broadband 
infrastructure for South Holland.) 

7. SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL STRATEGIC SITES 
PRIORITISATION 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Deputy Leaders 
of South Holland District Council and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) which sought approval for the 
development of options to secure a sustainable future for 
Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens, South Holland Centre 
and Priory Road Offices. 

The Programme Delivery Manager explained that the content of 
the report summarised the opportunity to look at three strategic 
sites as a result of a recognised need.  She stated that the sites 
should be used to the best of their ability in order to generate 
income for the Council whilst providing an offer to the residents.  
There was also potential to create a community hub at Priory 
Road, and for organisations to work more proactively together.  
The sites would be focussed on in the following order:

 Council Offices Priory Road; 
 South Holland Centre; and
 Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens.

Members discussed timelines.  The Programme Delivery 
Manager advised that a business case for the Council Offices 
Priory Road asset would be submitted to Cabinet in the third 
quarter.

The Chief Executive requested that members ensure they were 
clear on the options being recommended and contained within the 
report before approving.

Page 4



- 5 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

DECISION:

a) That the development of individual business cases to 
support the sustainable future of Priory Road Offices, South 
Holland Centre and Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens 
be approved;

b) That the priority ranking for the development of the business 
cases be approved; and

c) That it be noted that the resourcing requirements for the 
development of the business cases would be funded from 
sums already set aside for the transformation programme.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation; or
 To approve the recommendation without amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 The rationale for recommending the preferred options to be 

developed further was based on:
o Recognising specific ongoing service costs that were not 

sustainable;
o Acknowledging the market conditions that were both 

limiting and enabling;
o Timely opportunities arising from external partners 

expressing a strong interest to collocate within Priory 
Road;

o Commitment to delivery of the Council’s growth and 
commercial ambition;

o Acknowledging the impact on the local economy and 
communities; and

o Maintaining a leisure and culture offer to the communities 
whilst being prudent with the public purse.

 The Key prerequisites, interdependencies and constraints that 
affected the sites had been addressed.

 The recognised prerequisites supported the delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan.) 

JK, JS 

JK, JS 

JK, JS, 
KT

8. HOUSING DELIVERY/WELLAND HOMES INTERIM BUSINESS 
PLAN 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Housing (Shareholder Representative) and the Board 
Chairman of Welland Homes Limited which sought changes to the 
company’s Business Plan to address anticipated changes in 
demand for the development of Council housing.  The report 
summarised the information contained within the exempt 
Appendix 1 which had been circulated with the agenda as item 
14.

Page 5



- 6 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

The interim Business Plan would see a fast track delivery of 82 
properties by Welland Homes, 46 of which would be developed 
for the Council’s housing stock.  A fully revised Business Plan 
would not be produced until the full implications of the Housing 
and Planning Bill were known.

Councillor M G Chandler queried the timescale in respect of 
building the 82 properties.  Councillor P Coupland explained it 
was a guideline for the development period at its longest 
scenario.  He advised that the properties would be built in phases 
and that other projects would be investigated at the same time.  
Further details on timescales were included within the exempt 
appendix.

Councillor A Casson queried why only an outline planning 
permission had been sought in respect of Servern Road and 
Parkside Crescent.  Councillor Coupland explained that at the 
time of the application details in relation to the Council’s 
requirements in terms of style and types of housing was still being 
considered and additionally concerns had been raised by the 
Civic Society regarding open space, both of which had since been 
addressed.  

Councillor G J Taylor pointed out that the sites were mostly 
Spalding based.  Councillor C J Lawton advised that the greatest 
housing need had been identified in Spalding, however other 
locations would be investigated as part of the ongoing work.

Members agreed that, as only the principles of the report would 
be discussed rather than specific financial details; there was no 
need for the meeting to go into private session.

RECOMMENDATIONS TO FULL COUNCIL:

a) That the interim business plan for Welland Homes be 
approved in order to provide fast tracked delivery of 82 
homes (46 to the HRA) with a projected contribution, over 
the term of the programme, to the general fund of £1.039 
million alongside contribution to the HRA of £139k;

b) That the current £2.5million funding limit for acquisition of 
residential housing investments be increased to £3million; 
and

c) That, subject to obtaining planning consent, redevelopment 
of Council owned land and assets at Small Drove, Weston 
be approved with a view to facilitating a development of 34 
affordable homes for the benefit of the Council’s Housing 
Revenue Account.

AT, LE 

JK, KT 

JK, KT 

JK, KT 

Page 6



- 7 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

DECISION:

d) That officers be requested to consider the emerging details, 
of the housing and planning bill, alongside the housing 
delivery ambitions under devolution to identify the impact, 
risks and opportunities for the Council and to provide options 
for future consideration by Cabinet to support any expanded 
housing delivery programme;

e) That (subject to Council approval of the revised business 
plan, including the development of Small Drove) delegated 
authority be granted to the Portfolio Holder for Housing, in 
consultation with the Council’s S151 Officer, to approve 
detailed matters in relation to Small Drove, including design, 
development layout, build specification and the nature of the 
affordable tenure; and

f) That Councillor Malcolm Chandler be appointed as a 
Director of Welland Homes, to replace Julie Kennealy.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation; or
 To approve the recommendation without amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 An interim business plan provided the best delivery option 

during a period of uncertainty in relation to the future scale of 
development required.) 

JK, KT 

JK, KT, 
CL

JK, KT, 
MC

9. FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2015-16 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which sought approval of recommendations in respect of the out 
turn financial position of the Council, as at 31 March 2016.  The 
Financial Report for the year ending 31 March 2016 was attached 
to the report as Appendix A. 

Councillor P Coupland thanked the Interim Chief Accountant 
(Deputy S151) and his team for their work in preparing the end of 
year report.

The Lord Porter referred to the £22,000 of funding – personal 
search fees in respect of whether it would be retrieved back from 
the Government.  The Interim Chief Accountant advised that it 
was hoped that the money would be claimed back by the authority 
but this had not yet been confirmed.

The Lord Porter requested that officers work out how much the 
Council had taken in credit card payments over the past six years.  

Page 7



- 8 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

He also requested information in respect of the Internal Drainage 
Boards in terms of which other authorities had drainage boards 
and what the total cost was between them and the Council.  

RECOMMENDATIONS TO FULL COUNCIL:

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

b) That the final structure of council reserves be agreed, in line 
with paragraph 5.1.7 within the report; and

c) That the carry forward of Capital Budgets of £910,313 be 
approved, as per paragraph 5.1.9 within the report.

DECISION:

d) That changes to financial reporting for the council evolve, as 
per paragraph 5.1.10 within the report, and that the Policy 
Development Panel / Performance Monitoring Panel be 
regularly updated on progress; and

e) That officers investigate the following:
 How much the Council had taken in credit card 

payments over the past six years; and
 Which other authorities had drainage boards and what 

the total cost was between them and the Council.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation; or
 To approve the recommendation without amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 To provide timely information to Members on the overall 

finances of the Council and to make the best use of resources 
available.) 

LE, AT 

JK, KT 

JK, KT 

JK, KT 

JK, KT, 
CM 

JK, KT

10. APPOINTMENT OF PANELS AND WORKING PARTIES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance which sought the appointment of Panels and 
Working Parties.

DECISION:

a) That the Pre-Application Consultation Group be re-
established for the municipal year without amendment to its 
terms of reference; and substitutions be permitted where 
members formed part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only, and (ii) 
the group leader of nominated representative submitting 

MS, AT 

Page 8



- 9 -

CABINET - 12 July 2016

details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on 
the day of the meeting, or at least three hours before the 
meeting, whichever was sooner; and that the composition be 
formed by the following councillors: B Alcock, G R Aley, F 
Biggadike, C J T H Brewis, A Casson, P E Coupland, L J 
Eldridge, R Gambba-Jones, A Harrison, M J Pullen, M D 
Seymour and P A Williams.

b) That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for 
the municipal year without amendment to its terms of 
reference; that substitution arrangements apply (including for 
the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT) where 
members formed part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the 
group leader or nominated representative submitting details 
to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day 
of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, 
whichever was sooner; and that the composition be formed 
by the following councillors: G R Aley, J R Astill, C J T H 
Brewis, M G Chandler, P C Foyster, A Harrison and S-A 
Slade (Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT).

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations; or
 To approve the recommendations with amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 The Panel and Working Groups recommended for 

reappointment had a future role to perform in advising the 
Cabinet or making decisions under delegated authority.) 

MS, AT 

(The meeting ended at 10.57 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday 15 July 2016.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 25 July 2016 (i.e. after the 
expiry of working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during
that period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and
complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is served on the
Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-in and the
Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision
is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date
to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 27 July 2016.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group

To: Cabinet – 8 November 2016

Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task 
Group 

Purpose: To present the Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities 
Contract Task Group 

Recommendation:

That the recommendations of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task 
Group be considered.
 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Performance Monitoring Panel established the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities 
Contract Task Group on 1 December 2015.  It commenced its work on 21 January 2016.

1.2 The scope of the Task Group was:

 To consider performance, in relation to the contract, by the Authority and the 
contractor, particularly with reference to building maintenance and cleanliness, 
promotion of the facilities and reinvestment in the facilities;

 To look at the Council’s performance in monitoring the leisure facilities; and 
 To learn from the outcomes of this scrutiny, to inform future contracts and contract 

monitoring

1.3 The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors J R Astill, T A Carter, G K 
Dark (Chairman), J L King and A M Newton.

1.4 At a meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel on 30 August 2016, consideration was 
given to the Task Group’s final report and recommendations.  The final report is attached 
as Appendix 1.  The recommendations in Section 7 of the report were approved by the 
Panel for submission to the Cabinet.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The Cabinet may:

a) Approve the Task Group’s Final Report and recommendations;
b) Not approve the Task Group’s Final Report and/or suggest that some or all of the 

recommendations be amended; or
c) Do nothing

Page 11

Agenda Item 6.a)



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That if approved by the Cabinet, the report and its recommendations be taken on board to 
improve processes and procedures in the future, as identified.

3.2 That if agreed by the Cabinet, progress be updated to the Performance Monitoring Panel 
as identified

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 That if approved by the Cabinet, the report and its recommendations be taken on board to 
improve processes and procedures in the future, as identified.

4.2 That if agreed by the Cabinet, progress be updated to the Performance Monitoring Panel 
as identified

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The service is currently subject to a formal contract which expires in 2018, and that 
contract contains a number of obligations on both parties.

5.1.2 This is an executive function and any changes to the arrangements will need to be 
approved by Cabinet unless they are outside of the Policy Framework or Budget, which 
would require Council approval.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 Contract management is an issue that has been identified by the Task Group as an area 
requiring more robust management.  In addition, the Task group commented that the large 
number of additions and variations to the Contract between the Council and the leisure 
provider over the years made it difficult to identify requirements clearly.

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 The work of the Task Group links to the following Corporate Priorities:

 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 

protecting the most vulnerable

5.4 Health & Wellbeing

5.4.1 Provision of leisure facilities is important for the health and wellbeing of the local 
community and as mentioned at 5.3.1 above, is linked to more than one of the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities.

5.5 Reputation 

5.5.1 The Task Group was originally set up following criticism and adverse publicity in 2015 
around cleanliness and 'wear and tear' of the swimming pool in Spalding specifically.  

Page 12



5.6 Transformation Programme

5.6.1 Future option appraisals in respect of Leisure Facilities provision in South Holland will be 
detailed in the Council’s Transformation Programme.  The Task Group has recommended 
that the Performance Monitoring Panel be involved in the consultation stage of this 
process.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The swimming pool and leisure centre are located within the Spalding Castle Ward 
however individuals from many wards within South Holland use the facilities.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Emily Spicer – Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764884
Email: emily.spicer@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract 
Task Group

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Review of 

Swimming Pool/Leisure Centre Contract.

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Swimming Pool/Leisure Centre 
Contract Task Group on behalf of Performance Monitoring                                              

Panel

(17 August 2016)
V6

Page 15



APPENDIX A

Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Scope of the Review

3. Membership of Task Group

4. Background to Review

5. Method of Review

6. Summary of Findings

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

8. Financial implications of recommendations

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

Page 16



APPENDIX A

1. Introduction

1.1 The Spalding swimming pool and sports complex are extremely well utilised 
facilities. The swimming pool which is designed for competitive swimming and 
general fitness (not leisure) attracts 165,083 customers every year whilst the 
sports complex 150,932 per year (based on 2015/16 total). However, following 
criticism and adverse publicity in 2015 around the cleanliness and ‘wear and 
tear’ of the Spalding swimming pool specifically, the Performance Monitoring 
Panel questioned the performance of the leisure facility’s contract and the 
Authority’s management of the contract.

1.2 The Performance Monitoring Panel agreed that this criticism, directed at the 
Council, should not have been necessary with programmed maintenance or if 
issues at the facilities were dealt with when reported. 

1.3 Members of the Council agreed that there needed to be an understanding of 
how the current position had been arrived at, and that a Task Group would 
provide the appropriate means to do so.

1.4 In order to understand the situation, the performance of the current leisure 
facilities contract at the Spalding swimming pool and sports complex would 
need to be evaluated alongside the Authority’s management of that contract. 

1.5 The Performance Monitoring Panel agreed that the Task Group should take a 
positive role, to discover where mistakes, if any, had been made, and how this 
understanding could bring opportunities for the future management of the 
contract and beyond. 

2. Scope of the Review

2.1   The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as:

 To consider performance, in relation to the contract, by the Authority and the 
contractor, particularly with reference to building maintenance and 
cleanliness, promotion of the facilities and reinvestment in the facilities;

 To look at the Council’s performance in monitoring the leisure facilities; and
 To learn from the outcomes of this scrutiny, to inform future contracts and 

contract monitoring. 

3. Membership of Task Group

3.1    The Task Group comprised Councillors JR Astill, TA Carter, GK Dark 
(Chairman), JL King and AM Newton. The Lead Officer was Emily Spicer and 
the Task Group was supported by Christine Morgan. 

Page 17



APPENDIX A

4. Background to Review

4.1   The review was conducted as a result of criticism received within local media 
and social media of the Spalding swimming pool facilities (please see section 1 
of this report). The review was also seen as an opportunity to learn from current 
issues so that they may be of assistance in future leisure and/or contract 
provision. 

5. Method of Review

5.1    The Task Group met on a number of occasions to consider the contract 
documents in respect to the Spalding Castle Complex and swimming pool 
provision, user feedback, media and social media reports, and national 
guidance in respect to swimming pool temperature. Officer witnesses were 
called – Phil Perry (Leisure Facilities Manager) and Emily Holmes 
(Communities Manager). External witnesses were also called – Mrs R Fox (1 
Life Contract Manager). A site visit was also undertaken. 

6. Summary of Findings

6.1   The Task Group is content that the Spalding leisure facilities (both the 
swimming pool and complex) provide a good standard of activities for residents 
of South Holland to use. The swim school in particular is extremely popular and 
has recently received an award for high standards of teaching. It is important 
therefore to note that in relation to the high usage of the facility, the number of 
complaints received is not high.

6.2   Whilst a number of complaints reported within local media cited the temperature 
of the swimming pool water being ‘too cold’, research by the Task Group has 
concluded that temperatures are compliant for competitive swimming, diving, 
fitness swimming and training pools. It is clear that moving to higher 
temperatures than the code of practice recommends would cause a number of 
problems including competitive swimmers finding them too uncomfortable and 
an increase in micro-organisms. 

6.3   It was found that improvements were needed to the general cleanliness of the 
changing room areas and to provide an established proactive cleansing regime 
that could be clearly monitored and prove contract compliance. 

 
6.4   Considerable improvements were required to the customer feedback / 

complaints process in order to meet the requirements set out in the contract 
documentation. Through their own experiences, members of the Task Group 
found that in some cases, complaints were taking up to 6 months to be 
addressed. At the very least, essential minor repairs were not being addressed 
in a timely fashion.  It was evident that there was no consistent approach to the 
recording of complaints made by users of the facilities. 

Page 18



APPENDIX A

6.5   Due to the vast number of additions and variations to the Leisure Facilities 
contract it seemed that there was no clear direction of travel. Specifically, 
actions to be taken in respect to the cleaning regimes and cleanliness of the 
facilities were overly complicated and too broad. The cleaning regimes of any 
future contracts need to be addressed with real clarity. 

6.6   A vast improvement of the fixtures and fittings within the facilities is needed with 
consideration of all users’ needs. For example, ladies’ toilet facilities within the 
changing room areas need to be addressed, flooring and hand washing 
facilities that children are encouraged to use need to be available, disabled 
access to be reconsidered, toilet facilities available for spectators. 

6.7    In order to ensure contract compliance, recorded monitoring of the whole 
facility should be undertaken on a weekly basis. 

6.8   Improvements and/or changes need to be made to the blue over shoes policy. 
The Task Group felt that the reasons why blue overshoes need to be used was 
not clearly promoted, nor any type of encouragement for users to wear them. In 
addition, children and wheels on push chairs continue to go through to the 
changing rooms without any type of cover. A publicity campaign would assist in 
promoting the blue overshoe message. 

6.9   The Task Group found there to be no clear contract management system in 
place. The Group felt that the contract requirements were clear, but these were 
not followed through as positively as they need to be. 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

7.1   The Task Group reached the following conclusions:

(a) That the facilities provide an extensive range of leisure activities. 

(b) That the current cleansing routines at the swimming pool are based on a 
reactive model which is not fit for purpose and therefore needs to be changed 
to a more proactive regime. 

(c) It is essential that good contract management is undertaken by the Council / 
Contract Manager, and when required, the appropriate procedures are 
followed when contract compliance has lacked or lapsed. 

(d) That there is a need for improved contract management of the Leisure 
Facilities contract. 

(e) That the facilities, in particular the changing rooms within the swimming pool, 
appear to be in need of repair and maintenance. 

(f) That the ‘blue overshoe’ policy does not work in its present format.

Page 19



APPENDIX A

7.2    The Task Group makes the following recommendations:

a) That a full time cleaner is considered by 1Life as part of their annual budget 
allocations. It is evident that additional hours are required for the proactive 
cleaning of the swimming pool facility, in particular the changing room areas, 
in order to adhere to the requirements of the contract. 

b) That contract management of the site improves with a formally recorded daily 
and weekly monitoring regime and that should standards fall short of the 
requirements within the contract, the contract warning system is to be 
followed through and be robustly pursued by the contract manager. 

c) That staff within the facilities record and notify management of any repairs 
required on a daily basis and that these are dealt with in a timely manner. In 
addition, all outstanding repairs and maintenance should be undertaken 
promptly to improve standards at the leisure facilities. 

d) That the blue overshoe policy is reviewed immediately and a new, more 
effective policy is put in place within 3 months. 

e) That these recommendations are allocated to an identified officer to ensure 
they are actioned and that an update is received by the Performance 
Monitoring Panel on actions against these at 7 February 2017 meeting. 

f) That the Performance Monitoring Panel is involved in the consultation stage of 
any future option appraisals in respect to Leisure Facilities provision in South 
Holland as detailed in the Transformation Programme. 

8. Financial Implications of Recommendations

8.1   The above recommendations should be included within current contract income 
and expenditure and will therefore provide no financial implications to South 
Holland District Council at this time. 

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

9.1   The main sources of information were through those witnesses referred to in 
paragraph 5.

Page 20



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder Finance and the Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer 

To: Cabinet – 8 November 2016

Author: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Subject: Local Council Tax Support Scheme – 2017/18

Purpose: To review specific discounts within the local Council Tax support scheme. 

Recommendation: 

1) That the recommended changes to the Local Council Tax support scheme are reviewed 
and agreement is given to release them for consultation.

 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Local Council Tax Support scheme replaced the former national Council Tax Benefit 
(CTB) scheme from April 2013.

1.2 The scheme for pensioners continues to be prescribed by government, and allows up to 
100% support against Council Tax liability.

1.3 In 2014/15 South Holland Council Tax Support Scheme required all working age 
households to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax liability. This scheme has been 
reviewed annually and retained through 2015/16 and for 2016/17.

1.4 In the Medium Term Financial Plan report to the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel committee on 14 December 2015, it was suggested that this 
scheme be reviewed in 2016/17 as part of other opportunities work in the 2017/18 budget 
setting cycle. The committee supported this plan as part of the 2016/17 Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

1.5 Detailed examination has taken place with the Governance & Audit committee with reports 
presented on 28 July 2016 and 15 September 2016.

2. OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1 - Retain the existing Council Tax Support scheme for 2017/18.

2.2 Option 2 - Examine recommended changes to discounts in the Council Tax support 
scheme and revise the local policy for introduction in 2017/18 after a period of public 
consultation and approval by council.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CHANGES

3.1     Appendix A sets out the detail of the proposed changes together with some examples of the 
impact for claimants. However, in summary, the amendments which will be consulted on 
are:

 Abolish second adult rebate
 Introduce a minimum weekly amount (£5) of council tax support
 Decrease the non-dependant deduction rate
 Restrict Council Tax to band C

Page 21

Agenda Item 8.



 Lower the maximum capital limit to £8,000 (from £16,000)
 Lower the capital threshold to £3,000 (from £6,000)
 Limit the back dating of benefit to 1 month (from 3 months)
 Remove the family premium for new applications of council tax support
 Reduce the maximum level of discount from 75% to 70%

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1    The local scheme is now embedded and in its third year of operation. An annual review of 
discount levels is required, even if there are no changes proposed. National funding for the 
scheme is diminishing with zero contribution from central government expected by 2019/20 
which means that the full cost will be met by the precepting bodies (SHDC, Lincolnshire 
County Council and the Police).

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 The Council is able to demonstrate that best practice is followed and that they are proactive 
in examining policies within the financial framework of the Council to ensure value for 
money criteria is being satisfied.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial

6.1.1   Council Tax support scheme costs in 2016/17 are forecast to be approximately £4,400,000 
(£485,000 cost to the council).

6.1.2 Working Age claimants elements cost approximately £1,718,000 with £185,000 (11%) 
borne by the council

6.1.3 The current Medium Term Financial Forecast approved in February 2016 does not include 
any planned changes to the levels of discounts for working age claimants.

6.1.4 Recommended changes to the scheme are highlighted in Appendix A which would reduce 
the overall cost of support by a maximum of £203,777 (Council £21,865) subject to 
individual claimant circumstances where multiple discounts are being applied.

6.1.5 Individual discount adjustments will affect a maximum of 664 claimants with weekly 
discount reduction in the range of £0.06 to £26.60 depending on circumstances. The 
majority of claimants are likely to see a reduction in support of less than £2 per week.

6.1.6 The recommended reduction in the overall level of discount to 70% of council Tax will affect 
2,848 claimants with weekly discount reduction in the range of £0.01 to £2.10 depending on 
circumstances. The majority of claimants are likely to see a reduction in support of less 
than £0.77 per week.

6.1.7 Final recommended changes to the scheme after consultation will be presented as part of 
the Budget options report to Cabinet on 10 January 2016. 

6.1.8 These changes represent an invest-to-save project with overall costs of £20k anticipated. 
Lincolnshire County Council has provisionally agreed to contribute £15k with £5k to be 
funded from the transformation reserve. As part of the consultation with stakeholders the 
Police and Crime commissioner will be asked to contribute £3k in line with the anticipated 
reductions in support costs going forward.

6.1.9 Software upgrades are required for further changes of a fundamental nature which are in 
progress with our system provider for operation in the 2018/19 financial year.

Page 22



6.1.10 Modelling data from the benefits system continues and analysis of the likely mix of 
discounts for claimants will be determined as part of the activity which will inform the final 
recommendations to Cabinet.

6.2   Constitution & Legal

6.2.1   The conditions of the existing scheme were reviewed against applicable legislation in 2012. 
The revised scheme will be subject to a similar review before it is introduced.

6.2.2 The current hardship policy of the council will be incorporated into the scheme conditions to 
allow individual cases to be examined as necessary. This is also likely to be used for 
transitional arrangements for individual claimants as needed.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1       All.

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1       CTS – Council Tax Support
8.2       CTB – Council Tax Benefit

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Suzanne Jones  Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer
Telephone Number: Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Email: suzanne.jones@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or 

alternatively ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk (Interim Chief Accountant)

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Suzanne Jones  Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Working Claimant Discounts

Page 23

mailto:suzanne.jones@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet – 8 November 2016 Appendix A

Local Council Tax Support Scheme

Introduction

The core principles of South Holland’s local CTS scheme are: -

 Protection for : -
People over pension age (as prescribed by Government)

All War Disablement Pensioners and War Widowers

 People with children, disabilities or caring responsibilities will be supported
Retain the core features and continue to apply the wide range of provision in the 
previous Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme that recognised the additional needs of 
the disabled, those with children and those with caring responsibilities.

 Incentives to work will be supported
Retain provision within the previous Council Tax Benefit scheme, thereby 
maintaining the rate at which support is withdrawn as income increases.

1. 30 June 2016 (2016/17) Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure 
position

This table shows, as 30 June 2016, the profile between working age and elderly.  The 
Council has no discretion in terms of the expenditure associated with the support for elderly 
category.  Any saving can only be achieved through working age claimants.

Total Claims Average weekly CT 
liability

Average weekly 
award

All Groups 6,229 £17.92 £13.54
Elderly 3,400 £18.18 £15.15
Working Age 2,829 £17.62 £11.61

The split of 2016/17 scheme expenditure (at 30/06/16) between elderly and working age 
groups is shown in the following table.

Total £4,414,615
Elderly £2,696,090
Working Age £1,718,525

2. Financial arrangements

Council Tax Support is administered as a local discount and is part of the collection fund.  As 
such the cost of the scheme is borne by major preceptors.

South Holland’s share of the cost of local Council Tax Support (based on 2016/17 CT levels) 
is around 11%, as demonstrated in the following table.

Page 25



Council Tax 2016/17 Band D £ %’share’

Lincolnshire County Council £1,128.83 75.75%

South Holland District Council £159.84 10.73%

Police and Crime Commissioner £201.51 13.52%

 £1,490.18

3. Options for South Holland’s 2017/18 Council Tax Support scheme

It is important that any changes considered for 2017/18 can be supported by current 
software functionality and this precludes any fundamental changes to the scheme for 
2017/18.

There are a number of changes that are recommended that the Council make to the current 
scheme for working age claimants, which would not represent a radical review, but would 
allow a reduction in support costs against current expenditure.

These are listed below: -

 Abolish second adult rebate.

The current scheme gives a reduction in Council tax up to 25% to a claimant whose income 
is too high to receive Council Tax support but who has other adults living in the household 
whose combined income is low.

Recommendation: Rebate to be abolished

 Introduce a minimum weekly amount of CTS.

At the moment Council Tax Support is paid even if a person is only entitled to a few pence 
per week.

Recommendation: Minimum weekly amount of £5 to be introduced

 Change non-dependent deduction rates.

A ‘non-dependant’ is an adult living with a claimant but who is not dependent upon them,   
for example an adult son, daughter, mother, father or friend.

An increase in the amount of non-dependant deductions would mean those getting more 
money coming into the household would get less Council Tax Support.

Recommendation: decrease the rebate by 10%

 Restrict Council Tax to a particular band.

Currently there is no restriction on eligibility for Council Tax Support based on the band.  If 
Council Tax Support was restricted, for example to Band C, then the maximum amount of 
support would be fixed at the level of Council Tax for a Band C; those in bands D, E, F, G, or 
H would only receive Council Tax Support based on Council Tax level for a band C property 
resulting in them having to pay a higher proportion of their Council Tax.

Recommendation: Limit council tax support at Band C for properties in that band or 
above.

Page 26



 Review capital limits.

Currently claimants who have more than £16,000 in capital are not entitled to Council Tax 
Support.  Capital can be in the form of land, property, stocks, shares, premium bonds, 
money held in banks etc.  If the capital limit was reduced this would mean some claimants 
might no longer be eligible for Council Tax Support. 

Recommendation: lower the capital limit to £8,000

 Change the lower capital threshold

Currently capital up to £6,000 can be disregarded for the calculation of Council Tax Support.  
A reduction to this threshold would mean more claimants with savings would have to pay 
more towards their Council Tax.

Recommendation: Lower the capital threshold to £3,000 

 Limit backdating

Currently 3 months, this could be limited to 1 month in line with the governments change in 
2016/17 for Housing Benefit.  

Recommendation: Limit backdating of award to 1 month

 Remove family premium for new CTS applications.

A family premium is currently awarded on all claims which include children.  From May 2016 
the government removed this premium from Housing Benefit for all new claims made or 
babies born.

Recommendation: Remove family premium for new applications from 1st April 2017

 Reduce the maximum amount of CTS

Currently working age claimants can get up to 75% support.

Recommendation: Change the maximum discount level to 70% for all claimants

 No change

Not Recommended

Agreed changes will be subject to a 3 – 4 week consultation period which would run from 
early November 2016. Recommendations to Cabinet will be presented on 10th January 2017 
and will be subject to final approval by council on the 18th January 2017. The revised 
scheme must be approved by the end of January 2017 in order to conform to regulations.

Page 27



 
Potential 
Number 
Affected

Estimate of 
Support Cost 

Reduction
Average cost to 

Claimant 
Minimum cost to 

Claimant 
Maximum Cost 

to Claimant
Claimants 

below 
average

Claimants 
above 

average

£162.43 £56.65 £251.51   
per annum per annum per annum 16 18

£3.12 £1.09 £4.84   Abolish second adult rebate 34 £5,523

per week per week per week   
£152.22 £3.13 £259.67   

per annum per annum per annum 114 132
£2.93 £0.06 £4.99   Introduce a minimum weekly amount of £5 246 £37,447

per week per week per week   
Change in Non-dependant deductions      

£29.97 £9.85 £89.37   
per annum per annum per annum 94 50

£0.58 £0.19 £1.72   10% Increase in deductions 144 £4,316

per week per week per week   
Band Restriction      

£174.59 £4.90 £665.03   
per annum per annum per annum 73 21

£3.36 £0.09 £12.79   Restriction to Band C Parish precepts vary 94 £16,412

per week per week per week   
Change capital limits      

£578.85 £13.61 £1,383.27   
per annum per annum per annum 16 13

£11.13 £0.26 £26.60   Reduce capital limit from £16k to £8k 29 £16,787

per week per week per week   
£83.61 £10.43 £125.14   

per annum per annum per annum 56 60
£1.61 £0.20 £2.41   Reduce lower capital limit from £6k to £3k 116 £9,699

per week per week per week   
Reduce maximum council tax support level      

£39.89 £0.22 £109.40   

per annum per annum per annum 1697 1151

£0.77 £0.00 £2.10   
70% 2848 £113,594

per week per week per week   

Total Savings £203,777

SHDC Share £21,865

P
age 28



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder Finance and the Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer

To: Cabinet – 8 November 2016

Author: Ken Trotter - Interim Chief Accountant

Subject: UK Municipal Bond Agency

Purpose: Approval of UK Municipal Bond Agency; Framework Agreement and Joint 
and Several Guarantee

Recommendations to Full Council 

1) To approve the Council’s entry into the Framework Agreement and its accompanying 
schedules including the joint and several guarantee;

2) That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director, Commercialisation as Section 
151 Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance to agree amendments to the 
Framework Agreement as appropriate.

3) That subject to due diligence and assessment of the legal and financial implications of the 
proposal delegated authority be given to the Executive Director, Commercialisation  as 
Section 151 Officer and the Executive Director, Strategy & Governance  as Monitoring 
Officer to sign agreed final documents, as appropriate, on behalf of the Council;

1.0 Background

1.1 This report seeks approval for the Council to enter into the borrowing documents prepared 
by the UK Municipal Bonds Agency (the Agency).

1.2 The Agency requires that local authorities borrowing from it enter into its Framework 
Agreement.  The Agreement includes an accession document confirming that the council 
has the necessary approvals to sign the Agreement and a joint and several guarantee to 
those lending money to the Agency in respect of the borrowing of all other local authorities 
from the Agency.  Entering into the Framework Agreement enables the Council to access 
funding from the Agency as and when required.

1.3 This report sets out the background to the Agency, key facets of the Framework Agreement 
and the advantages and disadvantages of entering into the Agreement, including an 
assessment of the risk that the Council will be called upon under the guarantee.  

1.4 In order to be able to borrow from the Agency the council must accept the terms of the 
Framework Agreement and grant a joint and several guarantee. This means that the council 
will be guaranteeing all the existing finance obligations of the Agency and any future 
obligations which are entered into if the council undertakes borrowing from the Agency. 

1.5 Since late 2015 a small group of local authorities, acting as informal working group on 
behalf of English local authorities and advised by law firm Allen & Overy, have been 
working on the Framework Agreement and Schedules provided by the Agency and their 
legal advisors Clifford Chance. Counsel opinion was also sought by the working group and 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9.



Allen & Overy as to whether local authorities could lawfully enter into the Framework 
Agreement and Guarantee and borrow from the Agency. 

1.6 Background information is included in the confidential Appendix 1: Documents Package for 
Local Authorities (Documents Package) which includes the Framework Agreement and 
other supporting documentation. The Documents Package reflects a challenge and due 
diligence process carried out by the Agency. 

1.7 This report describes the risks of entering into the Framework Agreement and providing the 
Guarantee, and the safeguards and protections that are in place to mitigate the Guarantee 
from being exercised. It also sets out the legal powers relied upon to enter into these 
contracts.

Current Position

1.8 The purpose of the Agency is to deliver cheaper capital finance to local authorities.  It will 
do so via periodic bond issues, as an aggregator for financing from institutions such as the 
European Investment Bank (EIB) and by facilitating greater inter-authority lending.  The 
Agency is wholly owned by 57 local authorities and the Local Government Association 
(LGA).  The Council is a shareholder in the Agency with a total investment of £50,000.

1.9 The Council has a number of sources of capital finance available to it, particularly from the 
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). The LGA explored and then, with the support of a 
number of local authorities, established the Agency as an alternative to the PWLB.

1.10 An initial bond issue from the Agency is in progress with a finalisation target of before the 
end of the calendar year. However no further details have been released since June 2016 
and the result of the UK referendum and the reduction in the UK Bank lending base rate 
may have an impact on the timing of this issue.

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency

Establishment

1.11 The establishment of the UK Municipal Bonds Agency was led by the LGA following the 
announcement in the 2010 Autumn Statement that PWLB rates would increase from 0.15 
per cent over Gilts to 1 per cent over Gilts, increasing the cost of new borrowing and 
refinancing.  This followed the introduction of early repayment penalties by the PWLB in 
2007, which have prevented local authorities from restructuring their loan portfolios to 
reduce costs while interest rates are low.  Although the Government subsequently 
introduced the “certainty rate”, which effectively reduced the PWLB’s margin to 0.8 per cent 
over Gilts in return for the limited disclosure of an authority’s borrowing plans; the LGA felt 
that the rate remained higher than a bonds agency should be able to achieve.

1.12 The LGA also noted that it was easy for UK investors such as pension funds to provide 
capital to overseas local authorities through the London capital markets, but not so to UK 
local authorities.

1.13 The LGA published a revised business case in March 2014 that set out how a bonds 
agency would issue bonds on behalf of local authorities in an efficient and cost effective 
manner and at lower rates than the PWLB.  It identified that the regulatory environment 
meant that the PWLB had a de facto monopoly on providing simple loans to local 
authorities:

Page 30



 For regulatory purposes a bank must set aside capital when lending to local 
authorities – unlike when lending to the Government – and therefore it is difficult for 
banks to compete with the PWLB on rates and make money other than by offering 
structured lending products.

 Investors in bonds value liquidity and benchmark sized issues (£250 million), which 
makes it difficult for most local authorities to access the bond markets, particularly 
as one-off bond issues can be costly.

 Supranational agencies such as the EIB would typically lend only for large projects, 
typically £150 million or £250 million depending on the project, thereby excluding 
most local authorities.

1.14 The company was established in June 2014 and the agency will act as an intermediary, 
borrowing the money and on-lending it to local authorities on a matched basis. The aim is to 
deliver cheaper capital finance to local authorities through periodic bond issues, as an 
aggregator for loans from other bodies such as the EIB, and facilitating longer term inter-
authority lending via the Agency.

Client Base

1.15 The Agency will only lend to UK local authorities who can give a joint and several 
guarantee.  This is currently limited to 353 principal English local authorities that have the 
general power of competence under section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011. The Department 
for Communities and Local Government specifically intended that local authorities should 
be able to give guarantees using the power in its regulatory impact assessment.

1.16 The ability to give joint and several guarantees may in due course be extended to other 
local authorities e.g. combined, Welsh or Scottish authorities.  In the event that this occurs, 
those authorities will be eligible to borrow from the Agency.

1.17 The Agency would prefer all borrowers to become shareholders.  This ensures a strong 
alignment of interest between borrowers and shareholders, and is viewed positively by 
ratings agencies and the capital markets.  Accordingly, the Agency will charge a higher 
interest rate to borrowers that are not shareholders, albeit one which remains competitive.

Loan Pricing

1.18 The Agency will operate a transparent pricing structure.  It will charge local authorities the 
interest the Agency pays to obtain the funds it on-lends, plus any transaction costs up to a 
maximum of 0.5 per cent of the amount borrowed, plus a margin to cover its costs.  This 
margin is currently set at:

 0.10 per cent for shareholders; and

 0.15 per cent for non-shareholders.

1.19 The Agency may adjust these margins for new borrowing transactions at its discretion, but 
will not increase them.  It is expected that these margins will reduce once the Agency is 
profitable.

1.20 Transactions costs include the Agency’s credit rating agency fees, bank syndicate fees and 
legal costs.  The Council has the option to amortise these over the life of the loan or to 
expense them.

Page 31



1.21 The Agency will not require local authorities to borrow at a rate that is higher than the 
PWLB. Over time, the rates offered by the Agency may improve as its bonds programme 
develops and it is able to borrow from institutions such as the EIB.

Early Repayment (Prepayment)

1.22 The Agency will pass on the cost of early repayment by a local authority (usually referred to 
as prepayment in financial services) to that local authority.  However, the Agency will not 
profit from the transaction and will assist any local authority seeking early repayment to find 
the cheapest solution.

1.23 Prepayment rights will track through between the loans to local authorities and the Agency’s 
financing.  For bond issues, voluntary prepayment is calculated in a similar way to the 
PWLB’s early redemption penalties, although one option available to local authorities will be 
to buy back part of the bond.

Governance

1.24 The Agency is a public limited company and as such is directed by its Board; comprising of 
a chairman, vice chairman, 4 non-executives and a senior independent director; assisted by 
an executive management team of 5.

1.25 The Board has the following sub-committees, chaired by independent non-executives:

 Risk, Compliance and Audit Committee; and

 Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

1.26 In addition, the Agency is aiming to establish a Local Authority Advisory Board, comprising 
local authority finance officers, to facilitate two-way communication between the Agency 
and its borrowers.

Credit Process

1.27 Prior to approving any loans, the Agency will carry out a credit assessment of each 
potential borrower.

1.28 The Agency has developed a proprietary credit scoring model based on similar 
methodologies to the main credit rating agencies.  In order to access funding from the 
Agency, a local authority will need to be able to achieve a “single A” credit rating on a 
standalone basis; rating agencies typically “notch up” a local authority to account for implied 
Government support.

1.29 In addition to credit scoring, the Agency will ensure appropriate diversification of its lending 
portfolio, through the contractual concentration limits agreed in the Framework Agreement.

2.0 Options

2.1 Note the report and approve the recommendations

2.2 Note the report and do not approve the recommendations

3.0 Reasons for recommendation(s)

3.1 To increase flexibility and availability of capital financing for future projects

Page 32



4.0 Expected Benefits

4.1 Increased competition to ensure the Council has the lowest possible borrowing costs from 
approved lenders in line with the treasury management strategy

5.0       Implications

5.1       Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The Council has the power to enter into the Framework Agreement under Section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011 – the general power of competence.  Borrowing under the Framework 
Agreement will be under Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 – the power to 
borrow.

The Framework Agreement and the Joint and Several Guarantee

5.1.2 The Framework Agreement as set out in Appendix 1, Section 3 comprises:

 The Framework Agreement itself, which is primarily designed to prevent a call on 
the joint and several guarantee and lays out how the Agency will interact with local 
authorities.

 Schedule 1: Form of Authority Accession Deed, which local authorities sign to 
commit them to the Framework Agreement.

 Schedule 2: Form of Guarantee, which is the joint and several guarantee.

 Schedule 3: Loan Standard Terms, which is the loan agreement that covers any 
borrowing by an authority.

 Schedule 4: Form of Loan Confirmation, which supplements the Loan Standard 
Terms and confirms details of a loan such as principal, maturity, interest rate and 
etc.  It is signed by the Agency and a borrower.

Need for the Joint and Several Guarantee

5.1.3 The LGA’s revised business case highlighted the need for borrowing authorities to sign a 
joint and several guarantee:

 The joint and several guarantee allows the Agency to issue bonds without having to 
prepare a full prospectus for each bond issue, pursuant EU’s “Prospective Directive” 
(Article 1(2)(d) of Directive 2003/71/EC), thereby reducing costs and complexity.

 The UK Listing Authority’s “listing rules” that govern whether financial instruments 
can be listed on a UK stock exchange would not permit bonds issued by an agency 
to be listed on the London Stock Exchange for some years without a joint and 
several guarantee, meaning the bonds would need to be listed elsewhere such as 
the Channel Islands or Luxembourg.

 If, instead of a joint and several guarantee, investors had recourse to an agency’s 
on-lending arrangements, every tranche of financing would require a separate credit 
rating and investors to assess the participating authorities, which would materially 
impact an agency’s ability to reduce costs and deter a number of potential investors 

Page 33



and lenders from lending money to the agency.  The joint and several guarantee 
draws on the strength of the local government sector and is simple for investors to 
understand.

Nature of the Joint and Several Guarantee

5.1.4   The joint and several guarantee is a schedule to the Framework Agreement (Appendix 1, 
Section 3, Schedule 2) and is direct, unconditional, irrevocable and not separately 
administered:

“2.1.1 guarantees to each Beneficiary each and every obligation and liability the Company 
may now or hereafter have to such Beneficiary (whether solely or jointly with one or more 
persons and whether as principal or as surety or in some other capacity) in respect of the 
Guaranteed Liabilities and promises to pay to each Beneficiary from time to time on 
demand the unpaid balance of every sum (of principal, interest or otherwise) now or 
hereafter owing, due or payable (following the expiry of any grace period provided for) by 
the Company to any such Beneficiary in respect of any such Guaranteed Liability” 

And
  
“2.1.2agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify each Beneficiary from time to time on 
demand from and against any loss incurred by such Beneficiary as a result of any such 
Guaranteed Liability being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective as 
against the Company for any reason whatsoever, whether or not known to such 
Beneficiary, the amount of such loss being the amount which such Beneficiary would 
otherwise have been entitled to recover from the Company.”

5.1.5 In practice this means that all borrowers are collectively and individually guaranteeing the 
lenders to the Agency against a default by a local authority.

5.1.6 The Council can withdraw from the joint and several guarantee by giving notice and 
repaying its loans to the Agency.  However, the irrevocable nature of the guarantee 
means that the Council will continue to guarantee the Agency’s borrowings at the date of 
withdrawal until those borrowings mature.  This prevents moral hazard i.e. a local 
authority borrowing from the Agency to achieve a cheaper borrowing rate, but walking 
away from the obligations.  Withdrawal does mean that the Council will not be 
guaranteeing future borrowing by the Agency.

Preventing a Call on the Guarantee

5.1.7 The Framework Agreement mitigates against a possible call on the joint and several 
guarantee by minimising the risk of default by a local authority, limiting the possible impact 
of a default and containing a default before the Agency’s ability to make payments is 
threatened.

5.1.8 The Framework Agreement imposes obligations on the Agency that are designed to 
reduce the possibility of default by a borrower:

 The Agency must credit assess each borrower and exclude those that do not 
achieve at least the equivalent of a strong investment grade rating equivalent to an 
“A” rating from the established credit rating agencies such as Moody’s.

 “Concentration limits” ensure that the Agency will maintain a diverse loan book over 
time that limits the proportion of the Agency’s loan book that can be lent to a single 
or small group of authorities.  (Appendix 1, Section 3, Paragraph 5.2)

Page 34



 Credit lines are available to the Agency that it must utilise in the event of a local 
authority missing a payment or defaulting, before it has recourse to other borrowers.

5.1.9 The Framework Agreement establishes a contributions mechanism that requires 
borrowers to lend the Agency funds to cover its obligations in the event of a default by a 
local authority.  The contributions are calculated in proportion to an authority’s share of the 
performing loan book.  The loans are interest bearing and will be repaid once the Agency 
has recovered the sums owed to it by the defaulting authority, which it is required to do by 
the Framework Agreement.  If the Council has no outstanding borrowings via the Agency, 
it will not be called upon to make contributions under the Framework Agreement.

5.1.10 The payment schedules set out in the Framework Agreement are designed to ensure 
timely payments by local authorities so that error or late payment by a borrower does not 
risk a call for contributions or under the guarantee.

5.1.11 The Framework Agreement prevents a borrower from taking action against a defaulting 
authority so that a single authority cannot jeopardise the structure of the Agency and / or 
act against the interests of other borrowers.

5.1.12 Acting on behalf of prospective borrowers, a small group of authorities appointed lawyers, 
Allen & Overy, to review and advise upon the documentation.  Allen & Overy instructed 
counsel to obtain senior opinion on vires and reasonableness.  The advice and opinion 
resulted in a small number of changes to the Agency’s documentation.

5.1.13 Counsel raised three key considerations that a local authority must take into account 
when making a decision to enter into the Framework Agreement:

 its specific financial position;

 whether or not the council is “reasonably financially robust” i.e. the council can meet 
the potential demands that the Framework Agreement places upon it; and

 whether it is to the authority’s advantage to enter into the Framework Agreement 
taking into account the advantages and disadvantages of doing so. 

5.1.14 Taken together, these three considerations help address a key requirement of the 
Wednesbury principles that the Council exercises its powers in a reasonable manner.

5.1.15 Allen & Overy also engaged Jonathan Swift QC to provide opinion on, amongst other 
things, whether:

 entry into the Framework agreement, execution of the Guarantee, entry into 
borrowing transactions under the Framework Agreement and the provision of 
contribution loans would all be within the general power of competence under the 
Localism Act 2011; and

 a local authority that decides to enter into the Framework Agreement and the 
Guarantee on the basis of the Document Package (Appendix 1) would be acting in 
accordance with the requirement of Wednesbury reasonableness.

5.1.16 His main conclusions were:

Page 35



 Local authorities do have the power, in principle, to enter into the arrangement 
envisaged by the Framework Agreement; and

 whilst it would, in principle, be lawful for a reasonably financially robust local 
authority to enter into the commitments entailed in the Framework Agreement, the 
final assessment of whether or not it would be reasonable use of the in principle 
power must be made taking into account the specific financial position of each local 
authority, whether it is financially robust and the balance of the advantages and 
disadvantages of doing so.

5.1.17 Wider considerations, such as establishing the independence of the sector, whether they 
have merit or not, should not have a bearing on the Council’s assessment of the 
advantages and disadvantages of entering into the Framework Agreement.

5.1.18 Jonathan Swift QC’s opinion was procured independently of the Agency.

5.1.19 Although the Agency intends that the Framework Agreement is permanent, there may be 
a need to either amend the Framework Agreement or if the Council wishes, set aside 
provisions for a period of time without amending the contributions arrangements or joint 
and several guarantee.  

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1   The signing of the framework agreement will enter the council into a binding contract with 
the Agency which will include a joint and several guarantee.

5.3 Financial 

5.3.1   Although the Council has no immediate need to borrow externally, entering into the 
Framework Agreement enables the Council to access funding from the Agency if and 
when required.

5.3.2   In accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy, use of the Agency for borrowing 
will be considered on a case by case basis along with other options, such as borrowing 
from the Public Works Loans Board or from other Local Authorities. Availability of funds, 
costs of borrowing and loan conditions will all be examined with an overall assessment 
being carried out as stipulated in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities.

5.3.3 UK local authorities are heavily supervised and subject to tight statutory control that 
reduces the probability that a local authority will default on its financial obligations.  
Furthermore, the Agency will undertake credit assessments of local authorities and limit its 
exposure to authorities to reduce credit risk.  In the event that a local authority needs to 
refinance its borrowings from the Agency, the PWLB is available to all local authorities as 
lender of last resort provided that the borrowing from the PWLB is not unlawful.  

5.3.4 No UK local authority has ever defaulted on one of its primary debt obligations and the 
risk of a default is considered to be low which in turn alleviates the risk of entering into the 
Framework Agreement and guarantee.

5.3.5 If a local authority does default, the Agency has liquidity facilities available to it so that it 
can meet the interest payments due on a bond and covers a limited default on a principal 
repayment by a local authority; the provisions of the Framework Agreement will be used if 
these facilities are exhausted.  The Council has adequate reserves and in the unlikely 

Page 36



event of a call for contributions under the Framework Agreement or payment under joint 
and several guarantee, has access to PWLB funds at 48 hours’ notice if required.

5.3.6 The risks associated with the joint and several guarantee are mitigated by the contribution 
arrangements.  Therefore, from a practical perspective, the real risk to the Council is the 
requirement to make contributions in the event of a default by another borrower and this 
exposure is proportional because it is calculated by reference to the amount borrowed by 
the Council as a proportion of all non-defaulting loans made by the Agency.  If the Council 
has never had any borrowings via the Agency, it will not be called upon under the 
Framework Agreement.

5.3.7 In the unlikely event that the guarantee is called upon, it is also unlikely that bond holders 
or other providers of finance to the Agency will pursue a single Council for payment 
because the best outcome for lenders is likely to be achieved by pursuing all the 
guarantors because this maximises the potential revenues available to repay them.

5.3.8 Section 13 of the Local Government Act secures all debts of a local authority on its 
revenues and therefore it is highly likely that the Agency will be able to recover amounts 
owed to it by a defaulting authority.  In turn, this will enable the Agency to repay sums lent 
to it under the Framework Agreement or paid out by the Council under the guarantee.

5.3.9 The risk that the Council suffers a loss under the Framework Agreement and the joint and 
several guarantee is therefore a combination of the low risk of a default by a local 
authority and the low risk that if a local authority does default, local authorities cannot 
recover sums owed to them.

5.3.10 In return for accepting this risk, the Council would expect to receive access to more 
diverse and potentially cheaper sources of capital finance via the Agency.  

5.3.11 Developments in respect of lending capability and the prospect of potentially lower 
borrowing rates will continue to be monitored as part of the Treasury Management 
function.

5.3.12 Loans with the PWLB in respect of the Housing Revenue Account self-financing have 
been raised with the Agency and an interest in potential future products that could allow 
repayment with limited or nil penalty have been registered.

5.3.13 The result of the UK referendum has no immediate effect on the arrangements with the 
Agency but clearly developments on the terms of the agreement to leave the European 
Union will need to be carefully monitored and managed as activity progresses. 
References to EU directives in the documents continue to apply during the negotiation 
period.

5.3.14 The EIB is the European Union's bank owned by and representing the interests of the 
European Union Member States. It works closely with other EU institutions to implement 
EU policy. 

5.3.15 The EIB is also active outside the European Union and in the European Free Trade 
Association countries it has been lending since 1994 after a loan facility was established 
to further the aims of the EU in those countries. Projects in which the EIB is involved in the 
EFTA states are financed from the Bank’s own resources. They have to meet the same 
eligibility criteria and follow the same procedures as those within the European Union. 

Page 37



Accounting for the Guarantee

5.3.16 The Agency commissioned accounting advice from Grant Thornton setting out the local 
authority accounting requirements for borrowing via the Agency including the joint and 
several guarantee, as set out in Appendix 1, Section 6.

5.3.17 Although the Council is unable to rely on this advice and must procure additional advice if 
it is uncertain regarding the accounting requirements, Grant Thornton’s advice does not 
raise any concerns at this time.  For example, if the Council judges the risk of a call under 
the joint and several guarantee to be zero, then accounting requirements of entering into 
the Framework Agreement are minimal and mostly confined to disclosures in the event 
that the Council borrows from the Agency.

5.3.18 The Council’s revenue budget and medium term financial strategy demonstrate and set 
out the financial pressures the Council is under, particularly in light of the funding cuts and 
uncertainties that changes to the system of local government finance and business rates 
may bring.  Nonetheless, the Council is required to balance its budget and is subject to 
tight statutory controls and supervision.  As highlighted elsewhere in this report, it is 
therefore extremely unlikely that the Council will find itself in the position that it is unable to 
meet the requirements of the Framework Agreement and joint and several guarantee e.g. 
that it makes contributions if asked.

5.3.19 Loans made to the Agency under the Framework Agreement as part of the contribution 
arrangements could constitute capital expenditure because loans to third parties are 
defined as such under the (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 
(as amended).  Given that the Agency is likely to recover the amounts owed to it by a 
defaulting authority and that the contributions are in themselves loans, the impact on the 
revenue budget it likely to be negligible if the Council is required to make a contribution or 
called upon under the joint and several guarantee.

5.3.20 Paragraph 5.4.10 below identifies that the joint and several guarantee will remain in force 
after borrowing has been repaid and the guarantee terminated. Borrowing by the Agency 
is limited to a maximum repayment term of 50 years and this would be the maximum time 
the guarantee would continue to apply to liabilities entered into by the Agency while the 
Guarantee from the council was in place.  

5.3.21 Concentration limits will be examined in detail when the framework agreement is 
negotiated in order to limit exposure to major borrowing from upper tier authorities.

5.4 Risk Management 

Risk of Default by an Authority

5.4.1 The risk of a default by a local authority is deemed to be low: no principal local authority 
has ever defaulted on a loan.  The National Audit Office in its Financial Sustainability of 
Local Authorities report of November 2014 observed:

“A legal framework at the core of the local government accountability system 
effectively prevents local authorities becoming insolvent. Local authorities cannot borrow 
to finance revenue expenditure or run deficits.”

5.4.2 The statutory and prudential framework under which local authorities operate is extremely 
strong and designed to prevent local authorities from over-reaching themselves and 
becoming insolvent.  Key aspects of the framework include:

Page 38



 Local authorities are prevented from borrowing to fund services by the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, which sets out how budgets and the Council Tax 
must be calculated, particularly Section 31A, 32 and 42A of the Act.  These 
provisions require a budget to be balanced on a cash basis without the use of 
borrowing.

 Local authorities must comply with the prudential framework established by Part 1 of 
the Local Government Act 2003 and related regulations, including the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities published by CIPFA.

 Section 151 Officers have varied powers and responsibilities that result in prudent 
financial management.  For example, if an authority cannot pay its bills at it falls due, 
he or she must submit a Section 114 report to the Executive / Council, which must 
be acted upon.  A Section 151 officer must also report on the adequacy of reserves 
and robustness of budget estimate under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and action be taken by the Council to remedy an adverse report.

 A local authority must make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to repay debt 
under the local authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003, issued by the Secretary of State under Sections 21 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (as amended).  This means that a local authority sets aside cash via its 
revenue budget, sufficient to ensure it can repay its debt.

5.4.3   The Agency’s credit assessments, risk management processes and the concentration 
limits should reduce the possibility that a local authority borrowing from the Agency is 
likely to default.

5.4.4   Local authorities have access to the PWLB as lender of last resort and therefore can 
refinance any borrowings from the Agency by the PWLB if it cannot repay its debt to the 
Agency by other means.

5.4.5   Historically, the Government has intervened when a local authority finds itself in difficult or 
the Government deems a local authority to be incapable of managing itself effectively.
 

5.4.6   For the Council to be called upon to make contributions under the Framework Agreement, 
let alone be called upon under the joint and several guarantee, all the above controls and 
protections must fail.  This has been summarised by the Agency in its presentations as set 
out in figure 1 below:

4

All controls and means of support have to fail for a call on the guarantee:

MULTI-LAYERED PROTECTION

Local Authority Statutory Budgetary 
Controls

Local Authority Prudential Code and 
Capital Controls

Agency’s Credit Process and 
Controls

PWLB

Government 
Intervention

Framework 
Agreement

J&SG

Page 39



Risk of Not Recovering Contributions or Payments under the Joint and Several 
Guarantee

5.4.7 The Local Government Act 2003 provides several key protections to lenders that greatly 
reduce the possibility that the Agency and therefore the Council would be unable to 
recover sums owed to it if it is required to make a contribution or pay out under the joint 
and several guarantee:

 Section 6 provides that a lender is not required to ensure that a local authority has 
the power to borrow and is not “prejudiced” in the absence of such a power.  This 
prevents a local authority claiming an act was “ultra vires” to side step its 
obligations.

 Section 13 provides that all debts rank pari passu i.e. have equal status under the 
law and thus a creditor cannot be disadvantaged by later subordination of that debt 
by a local authority.

 Section 13 also secures all debts of an authority on its revenues, which is the 
strongest possible security for a loan as the bulk of a local authority’s revenues are 
either raised under statutory powers or allocated by the Government.

 Section 13 also provides for a receiver to be appointed by the High Court on 
application if principal and / or interest greater than £10,000 is outstanding for 60 
days.

5.4.8 The Framework Agreement requires that the Agency must pursue any defaulting authority 
to the extent that if it does not do so promptly, borrowers can force it to do so.  
Furthermore, the Framework Agreement provides for a strict application of the proceeds 
of any debt recovered by the Agency from a defaulting authority.

Risks and Disadvantages of Entering Into the Framework Agreement

5.4.9 Exposure to the contribution arrangements and the joint and several guarantee means 
that entering into the Framework Agreement and borrowing via the Agency is different in 
nature to borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board, under a bilateral loan facility or 
through a bond issue in the capital markets.

5.4.10 There are inherent risks associated with the proposed structure, not least the joint and 
several nature of the guarantee. These are:

 The risk that the Council’s guarantee may be called independently of any other 
Guarantee and for the full amount owing by the Agency under the financing 
document that is covered by the guarantee (and, therefore, such participating local 
authority is potentially liable to pay out amounts to the MBA that exceed the 
amounts borrowed).

 Even if the Council has terminated its Guarantee, it will continue to guarantee the 
“Guaranteed Liabilities” entered into by the Agency before the termination date.  The 
effect of this is that the Council’s liability under its Guarantee may potentially 
continue in existence for many years after termination.

5.4.11 However, the risks associated with the joint and several guarantee are mitigated by the 
contribution arrangements.  The Framework Agreement is such that the Council’s 
exposure, from a practical perspective, is the requirement to make contributions in the 

Page 40



event of a default by another borrower and this exposure is proportional because it is 
calculated by reference to the amount borrowed by the Council as a proportion of all non-
defaulting loans made by the Agency.

5.4.12 The risk of a default by a local authority is considered to be low.  The ability of the Agency 
to recover sums owed to it in the event of a default is set out elsewhere in this report.

5.4.13 There is a risk that the Agency does not observe its obligations under the Framework 
Agreement, but the Council is entitled to expect that the Agency will operate in 
accordance with its obligations under the Framework Agreement when considering 
whether or not to enter into the Framework Agreement.  The LGA and local authorities 
control the Agency via their shareholdings so could intervene if the Agency did not abide 
by the Framework Agreement.

5.4.14 The prime advantage to the Council is the prospect of lower borrowing costs and the 
possibility to obtain types of loans that are not available from the PWLB.  Cheaper capital 
finance could reduce pressure on the Council’s finances.  This potential advantage may 
offset the low risk that a local authority defaults and the Agency is unable to recover the 
debts owed to it in order to repay the Council any contributions it is required to make.

5.4.15 The Framework Agreement only comes into effect if the Council does borrow from the 
Agency.  If the Council does not borrow, there is no risk to the Council arising from the 
contribution arrangements or joint and several guarantee.  The Council is not obligated to 
borrow via the Agency and even if it chooses to legally commit to borrowing via a bond 
issue, it will not be required to take a loan that is not cheaper than the PWLB, so the bond 
will not be issued.  Therefore, the financial risk to the Council of the Agency either failing 
to deliver a saving or the Council not borrowing having signed the Framework Agreement 
is eliminated.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1   All wards are affected by financial matters

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 Agency – The UK Municipal Bonds Agency
7.2 LGA - Local Government Association
7.3 PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
7.4 EFTA - European Free Trade Association
7.5 CIPFA – Chartered institute of Public Finance Accountancy
7.6 MRA - Minimum Revenue Provision
7.7   EIB – European Investment Bank
7.8   EU – European Union

Background papers:- Treasury Management Policy

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Suzanne Jones - Interim S151 Chief Finance Officer
Telephone Number: Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: suzanne.jones@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or alternatively 

ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk (Interim Chief Accountant)

Key Decision: No 

Page 41



Confidential appendix attached to this report:

Appendix 1 – Documents Package

(Please note that the appendix associated with this report is not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraph 5 (Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 
1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as Item 12)

Page 42



Document is Restricted

Page 43

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	6.a) Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group
	Appendix A

	8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18
	Appendix A - Council Tax Support Scheme

	9. UK Municipal Bond Agency
	12. UK Municipal Bond Agency appendix
	13. ICT Service and Infrastructure
	ICT report Appendix A


